

# Assessing the English language requirement

#### Version 8.0

This guidance explains to decision makers how to assess whether the English language requirement has been met under <u>Appendix English Language</u>.

# Contents

Contents	2
About this guidance	4
Contacts	5
Publication	5
Changes from last version of this guidance	5
The English language requirement	6
Required level	6
How an applicant can show they meet the English language requirement	7
National of a majority English speaking country	8
Met in a previous application	9
Academic degree taught in English	10
Checking a degree certificate is genuine	10
Academic degree from the UK	11
Academic degree from a majority English speaking country (except Canada)	11
Academic degree from a non-majority English speaking country	12
Applicant cannot provide proof of their degree	12
Secure English language test (SELT)	13
GCSE, International GCSE, A Level or Scottish equivalent in English	14
Additional options for Student applications	16
CAS fields	16
Assessed by a Higher Educational Provider (HEP)	16
Applicant is exempt from part of the SELT due to disability	17
Short term study abroad programme	17
Gifted student concession	17
Additional option for Skilled Worker applications	19
Medical professional regulation	19
Veterinary professional regulation	19
Exemptions from English language for applications for settlement	21
Age	21
Physical or mental condition	21
Evidence of physical or mental condition	22
Settlement on the family route: unable to meet required level after 15 years	22
Exceptional circumstances exemption for partners and children under Appendix HM Armed Forces.	
Consideration of exceptional circumstances	

Evidence and checks	25
Interviews	25
Assessing the evidence	25
Format of evidence	25
Missing or inadequate evidence	25
Refusals: English language requirement not met	

# About this guidance

This guidance is for decision makers considering applications for entry clearance, permission to stay and settlement and explains how to assess whether an applicant has met the English language requirements under Appendix English Language.

This guidance applies to the following routes:

- Student
- Skilled Worker
- Representative of an Overseas Business
- T2 Minister of Religion
- International Sportsperson
- UK Ancestry (Settlement only)
- Start-up
- Innovator
- Global Talent (Settlement only)
- Domestic Workers in a Private Household (Settlement only)
- Appendix Hong Kong British National (Overseas) (Settlement only)
- High Potential Individual
- Private Life (Settlement only)
- Scale-up
- Appendix Child staying with or joining a Non-Parent Relative (Protection)
- Appendix Bereaved Partner
- Appendix Victim of Domestic Abuse
- Appendix Settlement Family Life
- Appendix HM Armed Forces
- Appendix Long Residence

Guidance for the English language requirement in other routes can be found at:

- for family partner or parent under Appendix FM see the English language requirement guidance
- for settlement in routes other than those listed above see the Knowledge of language and life in the UK guidance

The English language requirement for each route (including the level of English required) is set out in the rules for the relevant routes and how it is met is set out in <u>Appendix English Language of the Immigration Rules</u>.

For Knowledge of Life in the UK see the Knowledge of language and life in the UK guidance.

## Contacts

If you have any questions about the guidance and your line manager or senior caseworker cannot help you or you think that the guidance has factual errors, then email the Simplification of Rules Team.

If you notice any formatting errors in this guidance (broken links, spelling mistakes and so on) or have any comments about the layout or navigability of the guidance then you can email the Guidance Rules and Forms team.

# **Publication**

Below is information on when this version of the guidance was published:

- version 8.0
- published for Home Office staff on 11 April 2024

# Changes from last version of this guidance

This update reflects that Appendix English Language has been extended to the following routes:

- Appendix HM Armed Forces
- Appendix Long Residence

This guidance now clarifies that an applicant can meet the English Language requirement by holding an International GCSE in English or English Literature at level 4 or 5.

There is also an addition to the guidance to explain exceptional circumstances considered on the HM Armed Forces route.

# The English language requirement

The English language requirement is where the rules require an applicant on a particular route to show that they have a specified level of English language ability.

The level of English language required of an applicant is set out in the rules for the relevant route – they will be under the heading 'English language requirement'.

The rules on how the requirement can be met are set out in Appendix English Language in <u>the Immigration Rules</u>.

## **Required level**

The levels come from the Common European Framework of Reference for Languages (CEFR). You can find out more about the CEFR levels on the <u>assessment grid</u>.

There are 4 components that are tested:

- reading
- writing
- speaking
- listening

The required level and CEFR component for each route are set out in the rules for the route under the heading 'English language requirement'.

### Related content

**Contents** 

# How an applicant can show they meet the English language requirement

You must check how the applicant says they have met the requirement by checking the application form. If the applicant is a national of a majority English speaking country, you must check their nationality information on the case working system.

More information on how to assess whether the requirement is met is in the rest of this guidance.

# National of a majority English speaking country

This section explains how to assess whether the applicant is a national of a majority English speaking country.

You can find the list of majority English speaking countries at EL 4.1 of <u>Appendix</u> <u>English Language</u>.

You must check all the applicant's nationalities declared in their application to confirm whether they meet the requirement.

Dual nationals will meet this requirement if one of their nationalities is included in the majority English speaking country list.

You must check the applicant's passport, travel document, valid national ID card or other satisfactory proof of nationality that they have provided to confirm they are a national of a majority English speaking country. Applicants who are dual nationals do not have to apply in the nationality they are relying on to benefit from this rule. If they have not provided proof of identity for the nationality they are relying on see the guidance below on missing or inadequate evidence.

#### Official - sensitive: start of section

The information on this page has been removed as it is restricted for internal Home Office use.

#### Official - sensitive: end of section

# Met in a previous application

This section explains how to assess whether the applicant met the English language requirement in a previous application.

If the applicant says they met the requirement in a previous successful application you must confirm this by checking their immigration history on the available systems (HOPS, CID, Atlas and Proviso).

The previous application must have been successful and must show they met the required level of English language ability on the route they are now applying for.

If the previous application shows a lower level of English language, you should normally contact the applicant using the evidential flexibility template on Atlas and tell them they have one month to show they have reached the higher level required and that their application will be put on hold to enable them to do so. You must tell them how to provide the updated information to you. You do not need to contact the applicant if you are refusing the application for other reasons.

# Academic degree taught in English

This section explains how to assess whether the applicant has an academic degree taught in English.

If the applicant has said that they met the requirement through an academic degree taught in English, you must first check which country the degree was taught in.

You must check the evidence of the award of the degree. A degree certificate, official transcript or letter from the awarding institution containing the equivalent information is acceptable evidence of a degree. You must also check whether the degree satisfies the requirements to show it an academic degree and was taught in English.

# Checking a degree certificate is genuine

You must always check the applicant's degree certificate.

The kind of information you should normally expect to see on a degree certificate, transcript or degree letter includes the:

- applicant's name
- type and level of the degree
- awarding body or institution
- date the degree was awarded

You would normally expect evidence of qualifications to be on official headed paper. Any letter should be signed by a person in an official capacity and you would normally expect it to include an address and contact details.

#### Official - sensitive: start of section

The information on this page has been removed as it is restricted for internal Home Office use.

#### Official - sensitive: end of section

If you have reason to doubt the degree is genuine or the information is complete, you should seek to verify it with the awarding institution.

To verify a degree awarded outside of the UK you must follow the process in place for verifications within your team. If you are not sure of the process within your team, you must ask your line manager.

To verify a degree awarded in the UK, you must contact the awarding institution by:

• finding the contact details of the institution on their website

- telephoning and requesting an email address, or, if necessary, a fax number for student records
- emailing or faxing a scan of your request with a copy of the certificate or transcript or letter

If you do not receive a reply within a reasonable period (at least 3 working days), you must telephone the institution to request a response.

The awarding institution may ask for the written consent of the applicant before disclosing any information. If this happens, fax or email a scan of the signed consent to verification section of the application form which shows that the applicant has agreed the Home Office may contact third parties and share information required to verify documents.

## Academic degree from the UK

If the degree was awarded by a UK body, you need to check that the:

- awarding body is recognised in the UK (to confirm the degree was actually issued in the UK)
- degree is UK bachelor's level or above (including Postgraduate degrees)
- qualification is academic, not technical or professional if in doubt, you can check that with the degree awarding body

You can check that an awarding body is recognised in the UK in the <u>'Check if a</u> <u>university or college is officially recognised' page on GOV.UK</u>.

You can check the UK qualifications levels on the <u>'Find a regulated qualification'</u> page on GOV.UK.

# Academic degree from a majority English speaking country (except Canada)

If the degree is from a majority English speaking country listed at EL 4.1 of Appendix English language (except for Canada which is not treated as a majority English language speaking country for this purpose as degrees are also taught in French), you must check that the:

- degree is equivalent to a UK bachelor's level degree or above
- qualification is academic, not technical or professional

You can check this on the Ecctis (formerly UK NARIC, a service that provides information, advice and opinion on academic, vocational and professional qualifications and skills from all over the world) Visa and Nationality statement that the applicant provides as evidence with their application, which must confirm that the degree is equivalent to a UK bachelor's degree or above.

You can see an example of a Visa and Nationality statement on the Ecctis website.

# Academic degree from a non-majority English speaking country

If the degree is from a non-majority English country or from Canada you must check on the Visa and Nationality statement from Ecctis (formerly UK NARIC), which the applicant provides as evidence with their application, that the:

- degree is equivalent to a UK bachelor's level degree or above
- qualification is academic, not technical or professional
- degree was taught in English

You can see an example of a Visa and Nationality statement on the Ecctis website.

If the Visa and Nationality statement does not confirm that the degree meets all the requirements, you may contact the applicant and give them an opportunity to contact Ecctis to obtain a revised statement which confirms the requirements are met. You do not need to contact the applicant if you are refusing the application on other grounds.

You must not accept a UK ENIC Statement of Compatibility as evidence of English ability as this is not confirmed on the statement.

#### Official - sensitive: start of section

The information on this page has been removed as it is restricted for internal Home Office use.

#### Official - sensitive: end of section

### Applicant cannot provide proof of their degree

If the applicant says they cannot provide proof of their degree, for example because the certificate is lost and a new one cannot be obtained, you can:

- review previous applications on our case working systems to see if the Home Office has already accepted that the applicant has a relevant degree
- seek further information from the applicant or the awarding body on whether it is possible to obtain further evidence of the degree

If there is no evidence of the degree, the applicant cannot rely on the degree to meet the English language requirement.

# Related content

<u>Contents</u>

# Secure English language test (SELT)

This section explains how to assess a Secure English Language Test (SELT).

If the applicant says they are relying on a SELT, they must provide a reference number on their application form. This must be used to search for and verify the SELT using the online portal. You can find further guidance on the online portal on the 'Secure English language tests online verification systems' page. The applicant must have scored at least the minimum level required for the route in each relevant component of the test.

All components of the test must be taken in one sitting.

You must check that the test is an approved test with <u>an approved provider</u> at the date the test was taken.

SELTs are valid for 2 years. If the SELT certificate has expired within the one month before the date of application, you can contact the applicant and allow them time to take and pass a new test at the appropriate level and tell them the application will be on hold for one month. You must tell them how to provide the updated information to you.

# GCSE, International GCSE, A Level or Scottish equivalent in English

This section explains how to assess a GCSE, International GCSE, A level or Scottish equivalent in English.

If the applicant has said on their application that they are relying on a GCSE, International GCSE, A Level, Scottish National Qualification at level 4 or 5 or, Scottish Higher or Advanced Higher in English you must check the following:

- the applicants age
- the date of their qualification
- the school, college or Sixth Form college (where that is included on the exam certificate), to confirm that they attended school in the UK while under 18

The exam does not need to have been taken when the applicant is under 18, as some students will turn 18 during the academic year.

Applicants cannot rely on GCSE, International GCSE or A levels gained through adult education or correspondence courses.

You must check that the qualification is in English literature or English language – qualifications in other subjects are not accepted.

If needed, you can find out information about a school here:

- <u>'Get information about schools' page on GOV.UK</u> for England
- 'Find a school' page on GOV.SCOT for Scotland
- 'My local school' page on GOV.WALES for Wales
- <u>'Schools plus' page</u> on the Department of Education for Northern Ireland

You must check that the qualification was issued by an <u>Ofqual</u>, <u>SQA</u>, <u>Qualifications</u> <u>Wales</u> or <u>CCEA regulated awarding body in the UK</u>.

You must be satisfied that the evidence of the qualification is genuine. If you have doubts you can:

- contact the exam awarding body to verify the evidence
- contact the applicant to ask for further information (be specific about what you want, for example written confirmation from the school that they attended)

#### Official – sensitive: start of section

The information on this page has been removed as it is restricted for internal Home Office use.

# Additional options for Student applications

This section explains additional ways in which those on the Student route can meet the English language requirement.

Student sponsors must assess their students' English language ability to make sure they meet the English language requirement before issuing a Confirmation of Acceptance for Studies (CAS).

# **CAS** fields

The CAS includes fields which allow the Student sponsor to provide details of the English language level attained for:

- speaking
- listening
- reading
- writing

The CAS also includes fields to name the English language test provider (if one has been used).

If a sponsor has not provided information in the fields in the English language section, they must provide the relevant details in the 'Evidence used to obtain offer' free text box for the CAS.

If the sponsor answers 'yes' to the 'Is SELT (Secure English Language Test) required?' question, the following fields become mandatory:

- English language level attained
- English language test provider

If the sponsor answers 'no' to the 'Is SELT required?' question, the following field becomes mandatory:

• reason not required

If the sections are not complete you must contact the Student sponsor and ask them to supply a revised CAS. If you are satisfied the reason supplied is not credible you must refuse the application.

## Assessed by a Higher Educational Provider (HEP)

If the applicant says they have been assessed by a higher education provider with a track record of compliance the evidence will be on the CAS.

You must check that the sponsor is a HEP with a track record of compliance. You can check the Sponsor register on GOV.UK.

You must check that the CAS includes confirmation that the applicant has been assessed and the method of assessment used. If details are missing, you must contact the HEP to require them to update the CAS.

The CAS must confirm either that they have English language at level B2 or, if they have a combined CAS which includes a pre-sessional course, they have a passed a SELT at level B1 and the CAS confirms they will reach level B2 by the end of the course.

## Applicant is exempt from part of the SELT due to disability

Where the applicant has been exempted from part of the SELT by the test provider due to a disability, you must check on the CAS that the sponsor confirms they have sufficient level of English language ability to complete their course.

If this information is not included, you must check with the sponsor.

### Short term study abroad programme

If the applicant says they are studying in the UK on a short term study abroad programme they must be studying in the USA and the course must lead to them gaining a qualification from the overseas Higher Education Institution at least equivalent level to a UK bachelor's degree.

You must check that the applicant has confirmation from Ecctis (formerly UK NARIC) that the qualification they are studying for is at least equivalent to a UK degree, which is confirmed on the CAS.

You must check that the CAS includes details of the overseas Higher Education Institution. If details are missing, you must contact the sponsor to require them to update the CAS.

### **Gifted student concession**

The English language requirement does not apply to applicants who are considered to be 'gifted students' by their Student sponsor. To qualify as a gifted student, they must meet both of the following requirements:

- the applicant must have been offered a place on a course at RQF level 6 or above, or SCQF level 9 or above, at a HEP with a track record of compliance
- the CAS must have been authorised by the academic registrar of the institution, and the academic registrar must confirm that they have personally approved the waiving of the English language requirement

If an applicant is a gifted student, you must check that this is recorded on the CAS (you do not need to see a letter from the college or university).

# Additional option for Skilled Worker applications

## **Medical professional regulation**

This section explains additional ways in which Skilled Workers can meet the English language requirement.

If an applicant is being sponsored to work as a doctor, dentist, nurse, or midwife they will meet the English language requirement if they have passed an English language assessment which is accepted as a requirement for registration by the relevant regulated professional body in the United Kingdom. As the assessment is a requirement for registration and employment by the sponsor, you do not need to do further checks where the applicant is applying under one of these SOC codes:

- 2211 Medical Practitioners
- 2215 Dental Practitioners
- 2231 Nurses; and
- 2232 Midwives

If there are reasons to doubt their occupation, you can check they are registered with their relevant professional body here:

- Doctors General Medical Council
- Dentists General Dental Council
- Nurses and Midwives Nursing and Midwifery Council

# **Veterinary professional regulation**

If an applicant is being sponsored to work as a veterinary professional, they will meet the English language requirement if they have passed an English language assessment which is accepted as a requirement for registration by the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons (RCVS) regulated professional body in the United Kingdom.

This applies to applicants applying to enter or stay as a Skilled Worker under SOC code 2216.

The applicant must be registered as a UK practicing veterinary surgeon with the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons which includes reaching the required level on the veterinary version of the Occupational English Test (OET) or International English Language Testing System (IELTS) exams. The applicant must confirm that they have met the RCVS's English language requirements as part of their application.

You can check that an applicant is currently registered as a UK practicing veterinary surgeon with the RCVS at <u>RCVS – Find a vet surgeon</u>.

# Exemptions from English language for applications for settlement

This section explains the exemptions from the English language requirement for those applying for settlement.

# Age

Applicants aged under 18 or 65 or over on the date of application (which is calculated according to the definition of 'date of application' in <u>paragraph 6 of the Immigration Rules</u>) do not need to meet the English language requirement. If in doubt, you can check an applicant's age in the personal information on the case working system.

## **Physical or mental condition**

An applicant is exempt from meeting the English language requirement if they have a disability (a physical or mental condition) that prevents them from meeting the requirement. You must check the application form to see whether the applicant has said this exemption applies to them. Where the applicant says the exemption applies they are asked to give reasons and provide evidence that you must consider.

Examples of when an applicant will be exempt is where you are satisfied the applicant:

- is suffering from a long-term or ongoing illness or disability (which may last for years) that severely restricts their ability to learn English or to take the test
- is suffering from a serious or life threatening illness such as cancer, which may involve treatment over the course of several months that severely restricts their ability to learn English or to take the test
- has a mental condition which prevents them from speaking or learning English to the required standard

You must consider what the evidence: <u>see guidance on evidence</u> and what it shows about how the condition would prevent the applicant from learning English or taking a Secure English Language Test (SELT), for example:

- if they are deaf and cannot show they meet the listening and / or speaking requirement
- if they are unable to speak or have a speech impediment which limits their ability to communicate in English
- if they are having cancer treatment and are too ill to attend a course or SELT due to chemotherapy
- if they have a learning disability which means they cannot demonstrate English to the required level

You should consider all the circumstance of the case and explain your decision on the exemption. For example:

- Does the condition affect the applicant's ability to meet the requirement? check any medical evidence addresses this point (unless it is clear) and if it is too generic you may want to seek further information if it does not, the exemption does not apply
- How serious is the condition? if it is life-limiting or serious and the position is unlikely to change in the foreseeable future the exemption will apply
- How long is the condition likely to last? if the medical evidence is that the applicant will not be able to meet the requirement in the foreseeable future (for at least 3 or more years) the exemption will apply
- if the evidence is that the applicant's condition will improve and they are likely to be able to meet the requirement within a few months you should consider putting the application on hold and telling the applicant they have a specified time to meet the requirement (as they may have had to apply before they could take the test to preserve their existing permission)

If you have doubts about the medical evidence, you should discuss with a senior caseworker.

Test centres can cater for a variety of disabilities, such as blindness. An applicant may be able to do the test even if they produce evidence of a disability if reasonable adjustments are possible. You can check with the test provider what reasonable adjustments are possible.

## **Evidence of physical or mental condition**

If an applicant claims to have a physical or mental condition, they must provide current medical evidence from a medical practitioner. There is no specified evidence for the medical exemption under Appendix English Language. This could include a letter from a registered <u>medical practitioner</u> in the UK, or the medical waiver <u>proforma</u>.

Each application must be considered on its own merits and will depend on the facts in each case. If you are not satisfied that the applicant has provided sufficient evidence to enable you to decide whether the exemption applies you should follow the guidance on missing or inadequate evidence.

For medical practitioners based in the UK, you can check if they are registered on the <u>General Medical Council's medical register</u>. If you have concerns about whether the evidence is genuine you may try to contact the medical practitioner to confirm it.

# Settlement on the family route: unable to meet required level after 15 years

A person applying for settlement as a partner, parent or dependent child aged over 18 may be exempt from meeting the required (B1) level of English language ability.

To be eligible for this exemption the applicant must meet all of the following:

- have spent a continuous period of 15 years in the UK with valid permission
- show a speaking and listening qualification in English at level A2 CEFR, ESOL entry level 2 or Scottish Credit and Qualification Framework level 3
- provide confirmation from a qualified English teacher that the applicant has attended an English language class for at least 75 guided learning hours (not unsupervised study or preparation time) in the 12 months immediately before the date of application and the teacher's view is the applicant is unlikely to attain B1 level through further study

If the applicant has not indicated on the application form any other method by which they will show English language ability, check the section on exemptions to see if they have indicated they are relying on this exemption.

Check the applicant's immigration history on the person summary on the casework system to confirm they have had permission for 15 years. You do not need to apply a continuous residence test, just confirm they have had permission throughout the 15 year period before the date of application.

The applicant must provide proof of a qualification at A2 level. You should normally expect to see an exam certificate or transcript of the relevant qualification.

The applicant is expected to provide evidence from a qualified English teacher. You should normally expect to see a letter from the teacher confirming the required information. If the letter does not contain all the required information, or you have any reason to doubt its authenticity, you must contact the English teacher to ask for further information.

If the applicant has spent 15 years with permission in the UK and cannot provide evidence of an English language qualification at A2 level, you should consider the circumstances of the case in the round to determine if it is appropriate to exercise discretion to waive the English language requirement, for example, do you have evidence that the applicant has attempted to complete an English language qualification and failed on multiple occasions, meaning it is unlikely they will be able to meet even the lesser A2 level. If you decide it is appropriate to exercise discretion you should explain your reasons on the case working system.

# Exceptional circumstances exemption for partners and children under Appendix HM Armed Forces

An applicant on the HM Armed Forces route as the partner or child of a member of HM Armed Forces or an HM Armed Forces service leaver is exempt from the English language requirement if the decision maker considers that there are exceptional circumstances that prevent the applicant from meeting the requirement.

This exemption is only applicable where there are exceptional circumstances specifically relating to the ability of the applicant to meet the English language requirement.

## **Consideration of exceptional circumstances**

Each application for an exemption, on the basis of exceptional circumstances will be considered on its merits on a case-by-case basis.

The applicant must demonstrate, in their application for entry as the partner or child of a member of HM Armed Forces or an HM Armed Forces service leaver, that as a result of exceptional circumstances they are unable to learn English before coming to the UK or it is not practicable or reasonable for them to travel to another country to take an approved English language test.

Evidence of the nature and impact of the exceptional circumstances must be provided, for instance examples of previous efforts to access learning materials or to travel overseas to take an approved test and the obstacles to doing so. This must include evidence provided by an independent source (for example, an appropriately qualified medical practitioner) or capable of being verified by the decision maker.

Examples of situations where a decision maker might conclude that there were exceptional circumstances are where the applicant:

- is a long-term resident of a country in international or internal armed conflict, or where there is or has been a humanitarian disaster, including in light of the infrastructure affected
- has been hospitalised for several months immediately prior to the date of application
- is the full-time carer of a disabled child also applying to come to the UK
- is a long-term resident of a country with no approved test provider and it is not practicable or reasonable for the applicant to travel to another country to take such a test
- is a long-term resident of a country in which the applicant faces very severe practical or logistical difficulties, which cannot reasonably be overcome, in accessing the learning resources required to acquire English language speaking and listening skills

Lack of or limited literacy or education will not in itself be accepted as exceptional circumstances.

It will be extremely rare for exceptional circumstances to apply where the applicant is in the UK. However, in an exceptional case, the applicant must set out the relevant circumstances in their application as a partner, parent or partner of a member of HM Armed Forces and submit relevant supporting evidence.

# **Evidence and checks**

This section explains how to assess and check evidence.

### Interviews

If after reviewing all the evidence, you have doubts about an applicant's credibility, including their English language ability, you may require them to attend an interview. See Casework guidance for the Student and Child Student routes, under the section "Student and Child Student: interviews" for guidance on when and how to do this.

For other routes, you should discuss with your senior caseworker.

## Assessing the evidence

You must carefully review the information on the application form and other available evidence before deciding whether you are satisfied on the balance of probabilities (it is more likely than not) that the English language requirement is met.

Although the burden of proof is on the applicant, if they say they meet the requirement but they have not yet provided sufficient evidence you should consider whether there are reasonable steps you could take to help them show that, for example by asking them for further information, or by verifying evidence, before deciding the application.

If the applicant provides evidence that shows the requirement is met and you do not accept that the evidence is genuine the burden of proof is then on you to show that it is more likely than not that the evidence is not genuine. In such cases you must also consider the guidance on deception, false representations and non-disclosure of relevant facts.

## Format of evidence

The rules no longer set out specific format requirements for most documents. This doesn't mean that format is irrelevant. It will help you assess if a piece of evidence is genuine and if it provides the information you need to be satisfied the requirement is met. But it does mean you must not refuse an application because the evidence is not in a particular format.

If evidence, such as a qualification or transcript, does not include the information you would normally expect you should consider whether to take further action to verify it.

### Missing or inadequate evidence

Appendix English Language sets out where specific evidence must be provided. The applicant will be told what evidence to provide as part of the application process. However, sometimes evidence is missing or inadequate and you should consider seeking further information or making verification checks when, for example:

- evidence is missing that you believe the applicant has, or could obtain
- evidence is inadequate but could be clarified, for example, if the applicant says they are relying on a degree taught in English, but the transcript only gives module marks and does not state that a degree was awarded, you can ask the applicant to obtain further evidence from the awarding body that the degree was awarded

You may decide to ask for further information from the applicant, sponsor, or the awarding body or other organisation, or make verification checks in other cases if you think they would help assess whether the English language requirement is met. If you are not sure whether they would help, please discuss this with your senior case worker.

You do not need to contact the applicant if evidence is missing or inadequate, but you do not need the information because you can get it elsewhere - for example, from the CAS or from a previous application, or if receiving it would make no difference to your decision (for example because they would still be refused for other reasons).

If evidence is missing or inadequate, you do not have to offer the applicant an opportunity to prove they meet the requirement in a different way. For example:

• if the applicant says they are relying on a degree taught in English, but the evidence is not sufficient to satisfy you of that, you do not need to check whether they meet the requirement some other way for example you don't need to ask them to provide a Secure English Language Test (SELT) reference number

# Refusals: English language requirement not met

If you are not satisfied the English language requirement is met, and no exemption applies, you must refuse the application.

You must explain in the refusal decision why you are not satisfied the requirement is met. For example, whether the evidence required in Appendix English language was not provided or whether that evidence was provided but was not sufficient or was not accepted as genuine.

Note that if the reason for refusal is that you believe the evidence is not genuine, the burden of proof is then on you to show in the refusal notice that it is more likely than not that the evidence is not genuine. You must therefore explain the reasons for this in your refusal. In such cases you must also consider the guidance on false representations and follow the relevant procedures in it.

In your refusal decision you should use plain and concise language and avoid jargon and acronyms.

For example paragraphs to use see Language requirement – standard refusal paragraphs.